1959

Marilynn Manning v. Western Airlines and Connecticut General Life Insurance Co. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Plaintiff and Appellant, widow of one Arthur M. Manning, brought an action in the District Court of Salt Lake County against the Respondents to recover as the beneficiary of a group insurance policy. The Trial Court summarily dismissed Appellant's Complaint. The parties hereinafter will be referred to as they appeared in the lower court — Appellant will be referred to as the Plaintiff and Respondents as the Defendants.

FACTS

This action arises out of the death of Arthur M. Manning, who was killed while working as an employee of the Defendant Western Airlines. The said Arthur M. Manning commenced his employment with the Defendant Western Airlines on May 21, 1957; and on May 25, 1957, he signed an application for group life insurance, group accident and sickness insurance, and group hospital and surgical benefits with the family to be included and authorized in writing deductions from his wages to pay the premiums thereafter. (Exhibit D1)

As a part of program of advising Mr. Manning of the group insurance plan, Defendant Western Airlines gave him a pamphlet which had been prepared and published as a joint effort on the part of the Defendants. (Exhibit P2) This booklet, entitled Group Insurance Plan, contains a schedule of the monthly benefits and costs to the employee. According to this schedule the total monthly cost of the insurance plan, including life insurance, was \$11.42. The monthly deductions by the employer as shown were \$11.70. (Exhibit D5) Apparently deductions were being taken on the basis of a new schedule which the evidence would show had never been given to decedent and of which he was not aware. (R 42)

The insurance that was issued was, under the Company's Group Insurance Plan, carried with the Defendant Connecticut General Life Insurance Company. (R. 3) The insured, Arthur M. Manning, was killed while working near an airplane of the Defendant Western Airlines

on August 6, 1957, and while he was still employed with the said Defendant. (R. 2) At the time that Arthur M. Manning signed up for the acceptance of the insurance program he came under a Class "D" employee benefit authorizing the amount of \$3,600.00 life insurance. (R. 3)

In addition to the life insurance coverage of the policy, the employee could have accident, hospitalization, family benefits. (R. 54) At the time of his employment Mr. Manning took out the group life insurance, the group accident and sickness insurance, the group hospital and surgical benefits for both himself and his family. (Exhibit D1)

Thereafter, the said Arthur M. Manning received notification of his insurance coverage, under certificate No. 8818, with the Plaintiff Marily Manning, his wife, being named as the beneficiary thereunder. (R. 2 and R. 4) Subsequently, in the early part of June, 1959, Mr. Manning inquired, in writing, about the possibility of dropping the group life insurance part of the program and yet retain the other portions of the insurance. (Exhibit D7) Before doing so he discussed the matter with his wife; and they decided that because of the fact that she was expecting a child the accident, sickness and hospital provisions should be maintained. (R 68) From the early part of June, 1957, until his death on August 6, 1957, Mr. Manning never received any reply from either the Defendant Connecticut General Life Insurance Company or the Defendant Western Airlines. On the 2nd day of August, 1957, when Mr. Manning brought home his check covering

the pay period from July 15th to July 31st, he had still not heard from the Company regarding his inquiry about the life insurance part of the insurance and discussed the matter with his wife, the Plaintiff herein, and decided to make further inquiry of the Company. (R. 68) Following Mr. Manning's death the Defendants refused to pay Plaintiff under the life insurance provision, claiming Mr. Manning had cancelled his policy for life insurance by reason of Exhibit D7.

The group policy provides for the termination of the insurance as follows:

“F. Insurance Data

(a) . . .

(b) Termination of Insurance. If any employee cancels his payroll deduction order, his insurance shall cease at the end of the period for which the last deduction was made.”
(Exhibit D9)

Considerable discovery work was carried on between the parties in the form of Requests for Admissions and Interrogatories. A pre-trial was held before Judge Faux on June 5, 1959; and in its pre-trial order the Court eliminated any claim for accidental death benefit which would automatically give an additional \$3,600.00. The issue resolved for trial was whether or not the insurance policy remained in effect (1) because of failure to pay as required by the terms of the plan, and (2) because of failure to complete necessary arrangements which would entitle Plaintiff to recover under said plan. Pursuant to Plain-

tiff's demand, the matter was set down for a jury trial. (R. 38)

On June 22, 1959, the date set for the trial of this case, the parties appeared before Judge Ellett, who inquired whether or not there was any issue of fact to be submitted to the jury. At that time, as well as originally at pre-trial, Plaintiff took the position that there was no issue of fact to be tried because Exhibit D7, as a matter of law, did not constitute a cancellation of the life insurance portion of the group insurance, and further because Defendant Western Airlines had deducted from decedent's salary more than enough to pay the insurance premiums, including life, as set forth in the bulletin (Exhibit P2) furnished to decedent by Western at the time of his being employed.

In the event the Court did not sustain Plaintiff's position in this respect, Plaintiff insisted on having the issue as to whether there had or had not been a cancellation of the insurance submitted to the jury. (R. 36)

Judge Ellett, during the inquiry, stated that he would like to find out what issues were to be submitted to the jury and a discussion took place between the Court and counsel about the exhibits to be submitted. Exhibits were then submitted to the Court and received by the Court as Exhibit 1 through 11. (R. 77) After further discussion between Court and counsel regarding these exhibits the Court held that Exhibit D-7 showed as a matter of law that Arthur M. Manning had cancelled his insurance. An order was made to that effect in the absence of any motion by the Defendants.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

I. The Court erred in holding as a matter of law that the life insurance policy had been cancelled:

- (a) As a matter of law the policy had not been cancelled.
- (b) In any event whether or not there had been a cancellation was an issue to be submitted to the jury.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT ERRED IN HOLDING AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT THE LIFE INSURANCE POLICY HAD BEEN CANCELLED:

- (a) AS A MATTER OF LAW THE POLICY HAD NOT BEEN CANCELLED.

Appellant submits that there is one basic issue to be decided by this appeal. This issue resolves itself around the construction of Exhibit D-7. It is admitted by Appellant and all parties hereto that Exhibit D-9 constitutes the master insurance policy between the Defendant Western Airlines and the Connecticut General Life Insurance Company. It is also admitted that Mr. Arthur M. Manning on May 5, 1957, took out insurance which was covered by this master insurance policy by means of his application, Exhibit D-1. The Respondent further recognizes that in Exhibit D-9 (the master insurance policy) there is a specific provision for the termination of the insurance coverage of an individual employee. Paragraph F (6) (On the inside of the first cover sheet) provides:

“If any employee cancels his payroll deduction order, his insurance shall cease at the end of the period for which the last deduction was made.”

There is no argument in this matter but that Arthur M. Manning continued his employment with the Defendant Western Airlines from the date of May 22, 1957, to the date of his death on August 6, 1957, and that he made no specific request to have his payroll deduction order cancelled. In fact, it is apparent he did not intend to do so until he was assured by the Airline Company that it could be done without cancelling his other insurance. The narrow issue which the trial court apparently decided in this matter is whether or not Exhibit D-7 constitutes a cancellation of his life insurance with the Western Airlines under the group policy.

Since the Court did not receive any testimony and since there was no motion made by the Defendants herein, Appellant is in doubt as to whether or not the dismissal was taken pursuant to Rule 41 (b), U. R. C. P. (relating to an involuntary dismissal) or under Rule 56 (Summary Judgment). In the event a dismissal is taken under Rule 41 (b) findings of fact and conclusions of law should have been submitted. Admittedly no findings are necessary under Rule 56. For the purpose of this argument Appellant will assume that the court's action was a summary judgment, but whether taken as a summary judgment or involuntary dismissal the rules regarding the sufficiency of the grounds therefor are the same.

In Exhibit D-9, which is the master group insurance policy with Western Airlines and Connecticut General

Life Insurance Company, the provision relating to the termination of the insurance under Paragraph F (b) is as follows:

“Termination of Insurance.

“If any employee *cancels his employee deduction order*, his insurance shall cease at the end of the period for which the last deduction was made.” (Emphasis added)

The deceased Arthur M. Manning never at any time cancelled his payroll deduction order (Exhibit D-1). The law is well settled that the cancellation must be made strictly in accordance with the terms of the policy and notice of cancellation must be unconditional and absolute in form.

Appleman, Insurance Law and Practice, Vol. 6, Sec. 4193, provides in part:

“*The right to cancel a policy can be exercised only in the manner provided in the policy, and the burden of proving a valid cancellation is on the party asserting it.*” (Emphasis added)

In the case of *Dyche v. Bostian, et al.*, (Mo.) 233 S.W. 2nd 721, it was claimed that the insured attempted to cancel a policy with the following provision:

“This policy may be cancelled at any time by either of the parties upon written notice to the other party *stating when not less than ten days thereafter*, cancellation shall be effective. The effective date of such cancellation shall then be the end of the policy period.” (Emphasis added)

The insured wrote a letter on October 24 requesting cancellation of the policy. The letter was received by the agent for the company on October 25, 1946, and he said that they shouldn't cancel the policy until they had talked it over. The agency again phoned the insured concerning the cancellation of the policy. The agent then sent the policies to the company for cancellation on November 7. An injury occurred on November 7, 1946, and the insured then raised the question of whether or not the insurance was in effect. The Court held that the policies were in force on November 7, 1946, stating:

“The law is firmly settled that, where a policy contains a specific provision for cancellation by either party, it is binding upon the parties and must be strictly complied with in order to terminate the policy. In Home Insurance Co. v. Hamilton, 143 Mo. App. 237, 128 S.W. 273, 274, this court said: ‘A contract covering a certain period of time, but containing a conditional provision that it might be terminated before that time, will remain effective the full term, unless the condition of termination is fully complied with. And this is especially applicable to an insurance policy containing a provision allowing a cancellation prior to the end of the term of insurance . . .’

“It is clear that the above provision of the policy for cancellation was not followed by the insured. It required that the insured give written notice to the company and state in the notice the date on which cancellation was to be effective, and the date so specified must not be less than ten days from the date of the notice. All that the record shows is that a letter, *accompanied by the policies*, was written by Mrs. Kelly, probably on October 24, 1946, to Mr. Altman . . . the most that

can be said from the testimony concerning it is that it requested that Mr. Altman have the policies cancelled. There is absolutely no showing that it specified any date of cancellation.” (Emphasis added)

The headnote in the case of *Saskatchewan Government Insurance Office v. Padget* (1957, (CCA 5) 245 F. 2d 48, clearly states the rule of law as follows :

“Generally, an insurance policy is not subject to cancellation at the option of the insured or insurer except upon happening of events as specified in the policy.”

As noted, the cancellation must be strictly in accordance with the terms of the policy and the terms of the policy require that he “cancels his payroll deduction order.” The decedent Arthur M. Manning never cancelled his payroll deduction order, Exhibit “D-1.”

The law is equally clear and well settled that the notice of request for cancellation be clear and unequivocal:

“The notice or request must be unconditional and absolute, and *a conditional request for cancellation is not sufficient if it is not accepted by the company. The question whether a communication should or should not be construed as a notice of or request for cancellation will depend on the intent of the writer or speaker as ascertained from the whole instrument or all of the circumstances and doubts will be construed against cancellation.*” 45 C. J. S., “Insurance,” Sec. 458, p. 116-117. (Emphasis added)

The case most nearly analogous to the case at hand is *Magruder v. United States*, (1929) 32 F. 2d 807. In this case the Court had two issues presented to it: (1) Whether or not the insured had "cancelled" her life insurance while still in the service and (2) whether or not the premiums had been paid or waived. While in the service the insured had authorized deductions from her pay to cover her War Risk Insurance. Treasury Regulations provided that the insurance would lapse and terminate upon a written request duly witnessed for cancellation of the insurance and a corresponding cessation of the deductions of premiums from the pay of the individual. Here the Court refused to find that a war risk insurance policy had been cancelled when the facts indicated that the insured had lined out the authorization for deduction of premiums from disability compensation and had signed a statement to the effect that she had been explained her rights to continue her war risk insurance after she was separated from the service, "but I do not desire to apply for a Government insurance at this time." In analyzing the effect of this instrument the court had this to say: (P. 810)

"When we came to consider whether or not the statement in question contains language sufficient to convey the desire of the insured to cancel her policy, we are confronted with the well-known principle that request for cancellation of an insurance policy must be *unequivocal and absolute* . . . If the parties intended that the statement should be a cancellation of the policy, they certainly made a failure in attempting to express that fact, when using the form of an 'Application for Insurance,' and stating that the insured did not desire to apply for a government insurance at this time. . . . The

authority expressed in the policy to deduct from her pay the monthly premiums was not revoked, *and to now hold, after the insured has passed on and not here to speak, that the statement was a cancellation of the policy, would be violative of the rule recognized by the courts that the cancellation of an insurance contract must be absolute and in clear language.*" (Emphasis added)

In the case of *Van Scoy v. National Fire Insurance Company of Hartford, Connecticut*, (1921) 191 Iowa 1318, 184 N.W. 306, a letter was sent by the insured to the company as follows:

"Blencoe, Iowa, June 1, 1919.

"Dear Sirs: I want to get my policy No. 467741 cancelled that has just recently been taken out for three years. There has been some misunderstanding between your local agent and myself. Kindly inform me what is the best you can do. Yours truly (Signed), W. H. Van Scoy."

The Court stated (at page 307 of 184 N.W.):

"But plaintiff's letter addressed to the company on June 1, 1919, is obviously neither a request or demand for a cancellation. *It does no more than express a wish to have the policy cancelled* and asks to be informed of the terms on which it could be accomplished. This was a natural and proper inquiry as preliminary or preparatory to a cancellation in fact, for the statute provides that it shall be done upon 'equitable terms' and gives to the company the right to exact from plaintiff the customary short rates of premium from the date of the policy to the date of cancellation." (Emphasis added)

In the case of *Adler v. Burnes*, (1934) 288 Mass. 309, 192 N.E. 922, the plaintiff owned some property upon which she had insurance. She was about to sell the property and desired to cancel the insurance. Her father who had been handling her insurance matters went to the agent for the company, a Mr. Burnes. “. . . He next talked with Burnes in the early part of July in consequence of a letter; that at that time he told Burnes not to bother him for the balance of the money as he intended to sell the property and cancel the policy because the other party didn't want to take them. . . .” Burnes told the father to try to sell the policies to the new buyers. The trial court held there had been no cancellation.

“There is no evidence which would warrant a finding that there was any definite, unequivocal demand or request by the plaintiff or by anyone representing her to cancel the policies. All that appears is that, before the sale of the property to Mrs. Olson, Bennett was endeavoring to persuade her to take over the policies, but without success. Bennett did not make any definite request or demand for an immediate or future cancellation of the policies. It is said to be a ‘well-known principle that request for cancellation of an insurance policy must be unequivocal and absolute.’ *Magruder v. United States* (D. C.), 32 F. (2d) 807, 810; *Lyman v. State Mutual Fire Ins. Co.*, 14 Allen, 329, 333; *Clark v. Insurance Co. of North America*, 89 Me. 26, 32, 35 A. 1008, 35 L.R.A. 276; *Davidson v. German Ins. Co.*, 74 N. J. Law, 487, 65 A. 996, 13 L.R.A. (N.S.) 884, 12 Ann. Cas. 1065. See also cases in notes 32 C.J. pp. 1259, 1260. The conversations between Bennett and Burnes amounted at most to an expression of intention to cancel the policies at some time in the future.”

In a similar case, the case of *Phillips v. Hirschi* (1940), 292 Mich. 693, 201 N.W. 196. Mrs. Hirschi and the insurance company had an exchange of correspondence regarding her automobile insurance. On December 2, 1937, she wrote to the company and said: "In reply to yours of the 1st — will say, kindly return the money and keep your policy." She then went on in her letter to explain some differences that had arisen. The trial court held that the policy had been cancelled. Upon appeal the trial court was reversed. The Court said:

"Whether the communication of Mrs. Hirschi voided the agreement of protection of the insurance company, depends upon the intent of the insured; and such intent must be gleaned from the whole instrument. The words of the letter: 'Kindly return the money and keep your policy, I have waited long enough for the same,' taken alone, would indicate that Mrs. Hirschi intended the insurance to end. But in our opinion the letter, taken as a whole, is susceptible to a different interpretation."

Applying the principles of the foregoing cases to the facts in the instant matter, it seems clear that there was, as a matter of law, no cancellation of the insurance policy. Particularly is this true in the light of the rule of law that the provisions of an insurance policy, in the case of any doubt, will be resolved in favor of the assured or the beneficiary thereof. See *Richards v. Standard Accident Insurance Co.*, 58 Utah 622, 200 Pac. 1017; *Gibson v. Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States*, 84 Utah 452, 36 P. 2d 105. The fact that this was a group

policy does not change the rule since this Court has heretofore held that a group policy will be construed most strictly against the insurer. See *Bucher v. Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States*, 91 Utah 179, 63 P. 2d 604.

(b) IN ANY EVENT WHETHER OR NOT
THERE HAD BEEN A CANCELLATION
WAS AN ISSUE TO BE SUBMITTED TO
THE JURY.

At the time of pre-trial no claim was made by Defendants that as a matter of law they were entitled to judgment. The Court framed an issue of fact over the objection of Plaintiff who claimed that as a matter of law she was entitled to judgment. The issue of fact for trial was as to the effect of the inquiry made by decedent in the follow-up slip. (Exhibit D-7) This exhibit contains the only statement made by the decedent to either of the Defendants concerning cancellation of insurance, as follows: "I *wish* to drop the 'life insurance' part of my policy *if possible*." (Emphasis added)

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