1960

Marilynn Manning v. Western Airlines and Connecticut General Life Insurance Co. : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

I

THIS CASE DOES NOT INVOLVE CANCELLATION OF A POLICY; IT CONCERNS COVERAGE OF AN EMPLOYEE.

Appellant's brief argues in terms of whether or not "the life insurance policy had been cancelled" (App. Brf., p. 6). Such phraseology is unfortunate, because inaccurate. The only policy here involved (Ex. D-9) was between Western and Connecticut and was in effect at all times here pertinent. As is stated in 29 *Am. Jur., Insurance* § 1372:

"It is generally held that an employee's contract of insurance under the group plan consists of the policy issued by the insurer to the employer; the individual certificate delivered by the employer to the employee is no part of such contract, but only an instrument reciting the employee's right to protection under the terms of the group policy so long as there is compliance with the conditions of the policy."

The quoted language squares with the mandate of the Utah legislature, found at 31-23-2(3) UCA (1953), which requires that "the policy, the application of the employer and the individual applications, if any, shall constitute the entire contract between the parties . . . The individual certificate . . . issued by the insurance company setting forth a statement as to the insurance protection to which the individual is entitled shall not become a part of the contract between the parties."

The problem which is here involved is whether or not the decedent was, at the time of his demise, entitled to the coverage afforded by such existent policy. This depends, in turn, upon whether decedent's coverage was, prior to his death, terminated by virtue of his communication to Western (Ex. D-7), Western's consequent stoppage of group life deductions and its notification to Connecticut of the termination of such coverage (Ex. D-10, D-11).

II

THIS CASE IS GOVERNED BY PRINCIPLES OF LAW APPLICABLE TO GROUP INSURANCE.

The inaccuracy of appellant's designation of the question here involved reflects a lack of understanding, not shared by the courts, of the distinctive characteristics of group insurance.

Group life insurance represents "a distinct form of insurance differing in many, if not most of its aspects from the ordinary life insurance," *Miller v. Traveler's Insurance Company*, 143 Pa. Super. 270, 17 A.2d 807 (1941). "Group life insurance differs from ordinary old-line life insurance," *Leach v. Metropolitan Life Insurance Company*, 124 Kan. 584, 261 Pac. 603 (1927); *reh. den.* 125 Kan. 129, 263 Pac. 784 (1928). In this regard, it is worthy of note that the Utah legislature, recognizing that group life insurance possesses special characteristics, has enacted separate legislation pertinent thereto, Title 31, Chapter 23, UCA (1953). The following excerpt from 29 *Am. Jur., Insurance*, § 1371, expresses some of these distinctions:

"The group insurance contract is peculiar in that it is made by the insurer and the employer or someone in an analogous position¹, instead of between the insurer and the insured, as in other contracts of insurance, thus affecting four parties,—the insurer, the employer, the

¹See 31-23-1, UCA (1953) and 7 *Encyclopaedia of the Social Sciences, Group Insurance*, p. 182, for enumerations of those organizations, business units and political entities whose position is analogous to that of the employer. Among them are trade unions, consumers' co-operative societies, educational institutions, lending institutions, and municipalities.

insured and the beneficiary. Also, group insurance is often times a gratuity in that the employer pays either the whole or a part of the premium. Group insurance differs from old-line life insurance, but is similar in many respects to workman's compensation insurance, in that each is secured by the employer for the benefit of the employee, and in that employment is a condition, precedent to each to be effective. It should be borne in mind, however, that group insurance is not indemnity insurance for the benefit of the employer, but insurance on the life of the employee for his personal benefit and the protection of those depending upon him, and is in addition to and distinct from workman's compensation provided for by the laws of the state." (*Am. Jur.* footnotes eliminated; present footnote supplied.)

III

BY THE NATURE OF A GROUP POLICY, THE EMPLOYER, WESTERN, IS NOT LIABLE TO APPELLANT.

The employer is not liable in a suit to recover the benefits under the policy, *Mason's Adm'x v. Prudential Insurance Company*, 291 Ky. 347, 164 S.W. 2d 328 (1945); *Peyton v. Metropolitan Life Insurance Company*, 148 So. 721 (La. App., 1933); *Gallego v. Simmons Hardware Company*, 214 Mo. App. 111, 258 S.W. 16 (1924); *Haneline v. Turner White Casket Company*, 238 N.C. 127, 76 S.E. 2d 372 (1953). The reasoning of the cases is summarized at 8 *Couch's Cyclopaedia of Insurance Law*, § 2094:

"Since a contract for group insurance is between the employer and the insurer for the benefit of the employee, the right of action by the employee or his

beneficiary or representative is against the insurer, and not against the employer, between whom and the employee there is no contract of insurance."

Whether the issue is phrased in terms of cancellation (as in appellant's brief) or of coverage (as in this brief), it is clear that appellant now contends that she is entitled to recover on the master policy. That being the case, Western is not liable to appellant.

IV

UNDER THE GROUP POLICY HERE INVOLVED, THE RELATIONSHIP OF WESTERN TO DECEDENT WAS THAT OF AGENT TO PRINCIPAL.

The document of greatest importance to this case is a communication from decedent-employee to Western, his employer (Ex. D-7). It is, therefore, requisite that their relationship be defined.

In *Boseman v. Connecticut General Life Insurance Company*, 301 U.S. 196, 57 S. Ct. 686, 81 L. Ed. 1036, 110 A.L.R. 732 (1937), *affirming* 84 F.2d 701 (5 Cir., 1936), the United States Supreme Court stated, at 301 U.S. 204-5:

"When procuring the policy, obtaining applications of employees, taking payroll deduction orders, reporting changes in the insured group, paying premiums and generally in doing whatever necessary to obtain and keep the insurance in force, employers act not as agents of the insurer but for their employees and for themselves." (Citations eliminated.)

In making this statement, the Supreme Court cited the initial judicial analysis of the relationship of employee *vis-a-vis* employer under the group insurance plan, found in *Duval v. Metropolitan Life Insurance Company*, 82 N.H. 543, A. 400. 50 A.L.R. 1276, 1282-3 (1927):

"The claim that the employer is the agent of the insurer in the collection and forwarding of premiums is wholly without foundation. By the express terms of the policy the company looks to the employer for the payment of the premiums. It has no concern with whether it collects part of them from the employee or not. The employee is insured because he has made application, and because the employer promises to pay the insurer the premiums. The promise to pay is for the benefit of the employee.

"Again, it is urged that, as the provisions as to notice of claim, proof of loss, etc. are contained in the master policy, therefore the employer is the insurer's agent to give information of these subjects. It is said that the whole purpose of the group insurance scheme would be frustrated unless the employer co-operates with the employee as agent 'by implication' for the insurer.

"That the employer is expected to cooperate with the employee is evident. The whole scheme is paternalistic. The error of counsel, here and elsewhere, is in failing to appreciate that the paternalism is that of employer towards employee. It does not have the effect of making the benevolent parent the agent of the party with whom he inaugurates a contract for the benefit of his children. The line dividing the three parties to the contract according to their interest and real position in these transactions puts the employer with the employee, as opposed to the insurer."

With the decision of further cases involving group insurance, the view that the employer acts as an agent of the employee has become standard.²

The fact that an employer does not act as the agent of the insurance carrier was recognized by this court in *Ralston v. Metropolitan Life Insurance Company*, 90 Utah 496, 62 P.2d 1119 (1936). In that case, the employee sought recovery of total and permanent disability benefits provided for by the group life policy in effect between the insurance company and Southern Pacific Company, his employer. One of the issues at trial and upon appeal was whether proof of claim had been

² 1 Appleman, *Insurance Law and Practice*, § 43; 29 Am. Jur., *Insurance* § 1379; C.J.S., *Insurance*, § 140; *Metropolitan Life Insurance Company v. Quilty*, 92 F.2d 829 (7 Cir., 1937); *Connecticut General Life Insurance Company v. Speer*, 185 Ark. 615, 48 S.W. 2d 553 (1932); *Blaylock v. Prudential Insurance Company*, 84 Ga. App. 641, 67 S.E. 2d 173 (1951); *Thigpin v. Metropolitan Life Insurance Company*, 57 Ga. App. 405, 195 S.E. 591 (1938); *Lancaster v. Travelers Insurance Company*, 53 Ga. App. 718, 189 S.E. 79 (1936); *Metropolitan Life Insurance Company v. Henry*, 217 Ind. 33, 24 N.E. 2d 918 (1940); *Morales v. Equitable Life Assurance Soc.*, 115 Ind. App. 565, 60 N.E. 2d 747 (1945); *Leach v. Metropolitan Life Insurance Company*, supra; *Mason's Adm'x v. Prudential Insurance Company*, supra; *Equitable Life Assurance Soc. v. Hall*, 253 Ky. 347, 164 S.W. 2d 386 (1934); *Kloidt v. Metropolitan Life Insurance Company*, 18 N.J. Misc. 661, 16 A.2d 274 (1939); *People ex. rel. Kirkman v. Van Amringe*, 266 N.Y. 277, 194 N.E. 754 (1935); *Rivers v. State Capital Life Insurance Company*, 245 N.C. 461, 96 S.E. 2d 431, 68 A.L.R. 2d 205 (1957); *Haneline v. Turner White Casket Company*, supra; *Dewease v. Travelers Insurance Company*, 208 N.C. 732, 182 S.E. 447 (1935); *Hroblak v. Metropolitan Life Insurance Company*, 79 N.E. 2d 360 (Ohio App., 1947); *Hanaieff v. Equitable Life Assurance Soc.*, 71 Pa. 560, 92 A.2d 202 (1952); *Best v. Equitable Life Assurance Soc.*, 165 Pa. Super. 452, 68 A.2d 400 (1949), *aff'd*, 365 Pa. 418, 76 A.2d 220 (1950); *McFadden v. Equitable Life Assurance Soc.*, 351 Pa. 570, 41 A.2d 624 (1945); *Miller v. Traveler's Insurance Company*, supra; *Insurance Company v. Jackson*, 12 Tenn. App. 305 (1931).

furnished to the insurance company. The employee adduced evidence that he had furnished such proof to Southern Pacific and that it had denied his claim. On the basis of this undisputed evidence, the trial court instructed the jury that Metropolitan has waived due proof of claim. This court reversed, holding at 62 P.2d 1121:

"This letter of March 3, 1931, from the Southern Pacific Company to Ralston, containing a denial of liability, did not bind the insurance company. The Southern Pacific Company was not the agent of the defendant for that purpose. The court's instruction directing the jury that due proof of plaintiff's disability was waived on March 3, 1931, was error."

Both concurring opinions expressly voiced agreement with this view, Mr. Justice Folland's at 62 P.2d 1124 and Mr. Justice Wolfe's at 62 P.2d 1125. The decision is in accord with the North Carolina case of *Dewease v. Traveler's Insurance Company*, supra. Appellants are unable to read into *Bucher v. Equitable Life Assurance Soc.*, 91 Utah 179, 63 P.2d 604 (1936), cited by appellant (App. Brf., p. 15), an overruling by this court of the principle recognized in *Ralston* which had been decided ten days previously. *Bucher* did not involve the relationship between employee and employer, but, rather, the attempt by an insurer to set up a defense based upon a provision not in the master policy.

Inasmuch as the employer acts as agent of the employee, not of the insurer, service of process upon the employer does not constitute service upon the insurer, *Connecticut General Life Insurance Company v. Speer*, supra; *Blaylock v. Prudential Insurance Company*, supra. Nor can the employer bind the

insurer by accepting premiums subsequent to the cancellation of the master policy, *Lancaster v. Traveler's Insurance Company*, supra.

By like token, the rules of the law of agency apply to the relationship between the employer and employee. The following case is an illustration:

In *Metropolitan Life Insurance Company v. Henry*, supra, it was claimed that the employee did not have notice of the maximum time in which proof of claim might be made. The Indiana Supreme Court rejected the respondent's position, noting: (1) it was undisputed that the master policy at all times pertinent was in the physical possession of the employer; (2) under Indiana law, knowledge of the terms of a policy by its possessor is conclusively presumed; and (3) the knowledge of the employer-agent was imputed, as a matter of law, to the employee-principal. The rule of the *Henry* case was applied by the Indiana Appellate Court in *Morales v. Equitable Life Assurance Soc.*, supra, which involved the employee's claimed lack of knowledge of a temporary lay-off provision.

In *Mason's Adm'x v. Prudential Insurance Company*, supra, the employee (for whom his administratrix was substituted following his death) sought to recover from the insurer disability benefits under a group policy. The insurer defended on the ground that the policy has been cancelled by it and the employer. The Kentucky Supreme Court held that the employer, in procuring the policy, acted for the benefit of its employees, including Mason. It stated at 164 S.W. 2d 388-9: •

"Such agency was ratified by application for coverage under the policy and the contract completed on accept-

ance of the certificate under the policy. Therefore the railroad company's act in cancelling the policy was the act of the insured."

The relationship between decedent and Western relative to the group policy in question was that of agent and principal. Through the card (Ex. D-1) by which decedent accepted the policy of group insurance he expressly authorized Western to act in his behalf in deducting premiums from his wages. By the communication dated June 4, 1957, decedent instructed Western as follows: "I wish to drop the 'life insurance' part of my policy if possible. Thank you." Western, in reliance thereon (it is not contended by appellant that Western's actions were fraudulent) ceased to make life insurance deductions and informed Connecticut that decedent's insurance had been terminated (Ex. D-10, 11). Decedent, consequently appellant, was bound by such notification.

V

UNDER APPLICABLE RULES AS TO COMMUNICATIONS BETWEEN AGENT AND PRINCIPAL, DECEDENT'S COVERAGE WAS TERMINATED.

Appellant confuses the more exacting tests courts have applied to the cancellation of non-group insurance policies with the instant case, which involves an instruction from principal to agent.

Respondent contends that the communication dated June 4, 1957, is clear and unambiguous under any reasonable interpretation. But giving appellant every benefit and conceding *arguendo* that the communication "I wish to drop the 'life

insurance' part of my policy if possible. "Thank you" is subject to being construed as a mere inquiry, it surely cannot be contended that it is *unreasonable* to construe this as a request to drop decedent from the group coverage. At most, appellant contends that the communication in question is ambiguous. Granting this premise, it is reasonably susceptible to the interpretation placed upon it by Western.

In such event, it is clearly established that neither respondent is liable to appellant. *Mechem on Agency* (2d Ed.) § 1266 states:

"If the principal desires his instructions to be pursued, it is obviously necessary that he should make them intelligible and clear. If however they are so ambiguous as to be fairly capable of two interpretations and the agent in good faith and with due diligence adopts one of them, he cannot be held liable to the principal for a loss that may result on the latter's claim that he meant the other."

This view is adopted by the *Restatement of Agency* 2d, § 26:

" . . . authority to do an act can be created by written or spoken words or other conduct of the principal which, reasonably interpreted, causes the agent to believe that the principal desires him so to act on the principal's account."

This rephrases the rule that a document is to be construed most strongly against its drafter, *Restatement of Contracts*, § 235(d).

Indeed, the request to drop decedent from group coverage is put to no more exacting tests as to interpretation than the

original request by decedent to make the deductions, which automatically placed him within the covered group.

It is elementary that the principal is bound by the proper act of his agent, *Linseed Oil Company v. Montagio and Smith*, 65 Iowa 67, 21 N.W. 184 (1884); *Falskin v. Falls City State Bank*, 71 Neb. 29, 98 N.W. 425 (1904); *Picket v. Parsons*, 17 Vt. 470 (1845).

Inasmuch as Western, decedent's agent, acted properly in relying on decedent's communication of his payroll deduction order, decedent's group life coverage was terminated.

VI

THERE WAS NO JURY QUESTION.

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